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January 12, 2012 
 
 
Lucy G. Moses Preservation Awards 
The New York Landmarks Conservancy 
One Whitehall Street 
New York, NY 10004 

 
Re: New York City Police Museum 
 100 Old Slip, New York, NY  
 
Dear Sir / Madam: 
 
SUPERSTRUCTURES: Engineering + Architecture, PLLC takes great pleasure in nominating 
the New York City Police Museum for your consideration as a worthy recipient of a Lucy G. 
Moses Preservation Award.   Having been designated a New York City Landmark, the building 
has long been recognized as a “striking example of municipal architecture,” in the words of the 
Landmarks Preservation Commission. 
 
The museum housed in this landmark serves an important public function as an accessible 
public resource.  Through its exhibitions, collections and education programming, the New 
York City Police Museum illustrates how the policies and culture of the NYPD have evolved 
time to meet the changing needs of the City.  It is certainly fitting that its current home was 
built over 100 years ago as a home for the NYPD’s First Precinct. 
 
The recently completed exterior restoration was necessitated in large part by an 
inappropriately detailed addition on the fifth floor, resulting in improper drainage from the roof, 
and subsequent leakage on interior floors and staining of the exterior limestone.  This problem 
was solved, as is detailed in the following pages along with the other elements of a restoration 
project which protected this very worthy edifice beginning its second century of service.  
   
Our thanks to the Conservancy for the opportunity to present this estimable historic building 
as a candidate for consideration for a Lucy G. Moses Preservation Award. 
 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
SUPERSTRUCTURES 
Engineering + Architecture, PLLC 
 
 
 
 
Paul Millman, PE, RA, LEED AP 
Principal 
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First Precinct Police Station / New York City Police Museum

The First Precinct Police Station, which now houses the New York City Police Museum, is an 

impressive public building and important civic institution which, though erected in 1909, still 

commands its waterfront site.  As home of the Landmarks Preservation Commission in the 1990s, the 

building had become a symbol of the City’s commitment to historic preservation.

In awarding the building Landmark status in 1977, the Landmarks Preservation Commission cited 

the building’s “special character, special historical and aesthetic interest and value as part of the 

development …of New York City” and further recognized that “in its massive scale and restrained 

ornamentation the building creates an imposing effect.”  

The station house stands on Old Slip, in an area which has been important to the city since the late 

17th century.  Old Slip, at the foot of William Street, was the fi rst slip in the city.  These slips were 

openings between two wharves where boats unloaded during high tide.  Old Slip became the site 

of one of the fi rst offi cial market places in New Amsterdam, reaching the peak of its popularity in the 

1720s.  Beginning in the late 18th century, the Slip began to be fi lled in and eventually it formed a wide 

street of the same name.  

First Precinct circa 1910.
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The First Police Precinct in New York City was originally housed in the Franklin Market on Old Slip, 

when the department was organized in 1844.  It wasn’t until 1884 that the First Precinct Station got its 

own building at Old Slip.  This was a four story structure which stood until the present station house 

was erected on the same site in 1909-1911.  

Renderings of this new station house were displayed at the 23rd Annual Exhibit of the Architectural 

League of New York in 1908.  The architects, Richard Howland Hunt (1862-1931) and Joseph 

Howland Hunt (1870-1924), were well known for their elegant Long Island and Newport residential 

works, as well as for their New York City town houses.  They designed the George Washington 

Vanderbilt House (1902-1905), also a designated New York City Landmark.  Richard Howland Hunt 

also carried out his father Richard Morris Hunt’s design for the central portion of the Metropolitan 

Museum of Art after his death.

The First Precinct Police Station remains a striking example of municipal architecture.  This 

handsome neo-Italian Renaissance building of limestone is divided horizontally into three sections – 

a low base, a rusticated center section, and a smooth-faced “attic” story.  Its visual power is created 

by the rhythmic series of tall arches, heavy walls and restrained ornamentation.  The police station 

has the distinctive profi le of an early Italian Renaissance palazzo.  Many of the features, such as the 

arched openings of the main story, the rustication of the center section, and the dominating cornice, 

are reminiscent of the fi fteenth century Palazzo Riccardi in Florence, designed by Michelozzo.

All four faces of this freestanding building are treated in a generally similar manner.  A molded granite 

base supports the pulvinated rustication of the center section.  Above the low base, a series of round-

arched openings, serving two stories, have smooth-faced enframements and bracketed sills at the 

windows.  The third story fenestration consists of small square paired windows separated by mullions.  

Just above these attic windows, a handsome roof cornice with console brackets above a row of 

dentils elegantly crowns this fi ne building.  In the 1980s, a fi fth story was added --- largely obscured 

from street level by the cornice, it was capped with a Spanish-clay-tile roof.

This police station was occupied by the First Precinct until January 1973.   It is therefore fi tting that 

the building is currently occupied by the New York City Police Museum, celebrating the history and 

contributions of the New York City Police Department.  The museum, which grew from a gallery 

housed at the police academy on 20th Street, opened in 2000, and moved to its current location at 

100 Old Slip in January 2002.   Museum offi cials saw a move to this location as an opportunity to 

connect with the Department’s history.  The museum gives visitors an insider’s look at the history and 

traditions of the largest police service in the country.  Among its exhibits are a display of the evolution 

of police uniforms since their inception in 1853, the fi rst machine gun used in a gangland killing in 

New York, a model of a jail cell, a timeline of transportation, and a Hall of Heroes that includes the 

name and badge of every NYPD offi cer killed in the line of duty, starting with David Martin on August 

6, 1861.

The renovation project done under the auspices of New York City’s Department of Design and 

Construction and completed in 2011 included new and refurbished windows throughout the building, 

reconstruction of the water-shedding system at the fi fth fl oor to eliminate water infi ltration, and 

restoration of exterior masonry and metalwork as needed to bring the building into watertight and 

restored condition.  Captions accompanying the photos on subsequent pages highlight some of the 

challenges and achievements of the project.

In its combination of architectural distinction, historical import and civic utility the Police Museum is 

a treasure well worth preserving and the recent restoration allows it to shine in a manner befi tting its 

pedigree.

Sources:  Landmarks Preservation Commission Designation Report dated September 20, 1977; Wikepedia
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Despite their age, the limestone walls of the building were in good condi-

tion, though there was some staining from the water infi ltration off the fi fth-

fl oor roof, atmospheric soiling and biological growth.  Most of the masonry 

work comprised pointing and cleaning to restore the limestone to its original 

appearance, some stone restoration work including Dutchmen, unit replace-

ment and crack repair.  Landmarks Preservation Commission approval of 

mortar selection was required.  During the renovation the scaffolding sub-

contractor was able to utilize a tension system inside the masonry window 

openings to stabilize the scaffolding.  This unusual approach meant that no 

holes were required in the existing stone to anchor the scaffolding.  

Masonry / Limestone

Top, left:  Masonry stained by leakage from 

above.  Bottom, left:  biological growth on 

masonry.  Bottom, right:  Thin joints between 

stone required careful use of hand tools for 

pointing work.  Top, right:  Masonry after 

restoration.
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Prior to this project, the window sashes had been replaced within the origi-

nal frames.  The existing windows had problems with operation and with air 

and water infi ltration.  SUPERSTRUCTURES kept all the existing original 

wood frames in place, restoring the wood, and designed new, insulated glass  

replacement sashes to fi t each opening.  A paint analysis was done on the 

original frames, cast iron spandrel panels, and wrought iron grilles in order to 

match the original historic colors.

Windows

Top, left:  Window and wrought iron grille 

before restoration.  Bottom, left and right:  

Windows during restoration.  Top, right:  

Windows, spandrel panels and grilles after 

restoration.
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The major challenge of the restoration related to the fi fth fl oor of the build-

ing, itself an addition done in the 1980s.  The addition was positioned on top 

of the existing parapets, from which a copper cresting had prevoiusly been 

removed.  No piece of the original cresting survived.  The fi fth fl oor tile roof 

drained onto a gutter on the parapet which was in poor condition, resulting in 

leakage into the interior fl oors below and causing staining and displacement 

of arch stones on the exterior.   A new copper cresting to go atop the parapet 

was designed based on one historic photo including the original cresting and 

research of pressed-metal catalogs of the era.   Clay mock-ups were made 

and were reviewed before molds were created for the copper stamping.

Fifth Floor

Top, left:  Parapet shown before copper crest-

ing was installed.  Bottom, left:  Old gutter 

system.   Bottom, center:  Clay mockup for 

copper cresting.  Bottom, right:  New copper 

cresting and gutter viewed from roof.  Top, 

right:  Copper cresting installed atop parapet.
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Behind the new cresting, a “gutter” was created out of the back of the crest-

ing, the existing pitch of the coping stone and built-up cement board to pro-

vide positive pitch to drain the run-off from the roof.  Scuppers were relocated 

and one drain line added to allow for easier maintenance.  Also the windows 

at the fi fth fl oor, originally double-hung confi guration, were replaced with 

casement windows, that better match the style of the historic windows below 

and allow easier access through the windows onto the reverse dormer roofs 

for maintenance of the new drains and scuppers.

Fifth Floor - continued

Top, left:  Reverse dormer window before 

replacement.  Bottom, left:  Copper cresting 

during installation on parapet.  Bottom, right:  

New window leaning against old window, 

prior to replacement.  Top, right:  New case-

ment window installed.
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100 Old Slip at South Street








